RECEIVED 11-02-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2022AP292

In the matter of the mental commitment of L.J.E.:

WAUKESHA COUNTY,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

L.J.E.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. A person cannot be involuntarily committed under the fifth standard of dangerousness "if the individual may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55." Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e. When must a petitioner rebut this "ch. 55 exclusion," and what evidence is necessary for the petitioner to meet its burden?

The circuit court ordered the involuntary commitment.

The court of appeals affirmed the commitment.

#### CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This court should grant review to clarify the petitioner's burden to refute the ch. 55 exclusion when seeking an involuntary commitment under the fifth standard of dangerousness. This is an important issue implicating the due process rights of individuals subject to a petition for involuntary commitment. It also presents an important question of statutory interpretation, and will clarify application of the "ch. 55 exclusion," which is at issue in every involuntary commitment under the fifth standard.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The County initiated involuntary commitment proceedings against Evans<sup>1</sup> when the family friend she was living with, Anthony Zitzelsberger, decided that she could no longer live with him. (31:9-10.) He testified at the final hearing that Evans had been living with him for a few years, but that he believed she needed psychiatric help. (Id.) He testified that Evans, who was 60 years old, had become almost completely financially dependent on him. (31:6, 39.) She received \$700 per month on a debit card as part of a divorce settlement, but the debit card had expired, and Evans had not renewed it. (31:6-7, 11.) Zitzelsberger testified that he tried to help Evans update the card, or get a P.O. box for her mail, but she refused his help because of "the way her mind work[ed]." (31:7-8.) He did not testify that she had engaged in any dangerous behavior, only that he did not believe she had a place to live if she were unable to live with him. (31:9.) He agreed that she could keep living with him if she got help for her mental health issues. (31:9.)

A licensed clinical social worker with Waukesha County, Maryam Faterioun, testified that Zitzelsberger had initiated the commitment petition. (31:17.) She testified that Evans had previously been diagnosed with bipolar disorder (31:17), and that Evans could not meet her own needs in the community because of her reliance on Zitzelsberger. (31:18.) She testified that paranoia and thought blocking were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A pseudonym for the respondent, L.J.E.

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 5 of 16

preventing Evans from obtaining necessary treatment. (31:18.)

Faterioun acknowledged that Evans had not had any medical emergencies, and that her most recent inpatient hospitalization for mental health services was in 2014–15. (31:18-19.) Nevertheless, she testified that if Zitzelsberger withdrew his support, Evans would not obtain treatment, and that would create a risk of severe mental, emotional, and physical harm. (31:20-21.) She testified that Evans did not want mental health treatment because she did not believe she had a mental illness. And although Evans had previously admitted medication helped clear her thoughts. Faterioun concluded Evans understand the benefits of her medication because she also did not believe they were helpful, and had noted certain negative side effects. (31:23.)

Psychiatrist Cary Kohlenberg also testified. He testified that Evans had bipolar disorder with mood and thought symptoms, and that the condition grossly impaired Evans' ability to meet her life's needs. (31:31-32.) He testified that Evans was a proper subject for treatment and needed medications to decrease psychosis in order to function outside the hospital. (31:32-33.)Kohlenberg testified that treatment without medications would not work, but that Evans insisted she did not need medications. (31:34-35.) He testified that Evans had successfully medications in the past, but presently had false beliefs about the medications, which Kohlenberg believed made her incapable of applying an understanding about her medications. (31:36-37.) He testified that Evans was treatable because she had responded well Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 6 of 16

to medications in the past. (31:38.) Kohlenberg also testified that he believed Evans was dangerous under the fifth standard. (31:34.)

Another psychiatrist, Rada Malinovic, testified that Evans needed inpatient treatment until her medication stabilized in about 1-2 weeks. (31:43-44.) She agreed that Evans had bipolar disorder, which was treatable. (31:43.) Malinovic testified that Evans did not want to take her medication, but had willingly done so with a lot of encouragement and patience. (31:45-46.) She testified that Evans was still a little paranoid, but had improved significantly since her admission to the hospital when the commitment petition was filed. (31:47.)

The County argued that Evans was mentally ill and a proper subject for treatment based on her diagnosis with bipolar disorder. (31:49.) The County argued that Evans was dangerous under the fifth standard, allowing for predictive commitment of individuals who have not yet done anything dangerous. Wis. Stat. § 51.20 (1)(a)2.e.; (31:50). The County argued Evans needed to be committed because she did not understand the advantages and disadvantages for treatment, and that there was a substantial probability that without treatment, she would suffer severe mental, emotional, and physical harm. (31:50-57.) In particular, the County relied on Zitzelsberger's testimony that he would only let Evans live with him if she sought treatment. (31:52, 53.)

The circuit court generally credited all of the witnesses that testified, and made findings relevant to the statutory standards for commitment. The court

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 7 of 16

found that Evans had been diagnosed with bipolar disorder, so she was mentally ill and a proper subject for treatment. (31:64, 65; App. 19, 20.) The court then the fifth proceeded through standard dangerousness, Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e., discussing its applicability to Evans. The court found that Evans' mental illness prevented her from understanding the advantages and disadvantages of medication, and that she could not make an informed choice about whether to refuse medication. (31:65-66.) The court further found that there was a substantial probability that, if left untreated, Evans would lack necessary services, and would suffer severe mental, emotional, or physical harm as a result. (31:66.)

The court, reading the statute, noted an exception in the fifth standard: "[t]he probability of suffering a severe mental, emotional, or physical harm is not substantial under the section if there is a reasonable provision for care or treatment available in the community and a reasonable probability that she would avail herself of those services." (31:66-67; App. 21-22.) The court concluded this exception did not apply, so ordered Evans committed. (31:67; App. 22.) The court did not, however, address the second clause in the quoted portion of the statute, which also prohibits commitment "if the individual may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55." Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e.

Evans appealed, arguing that the County failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that her needs could not be met through protective placement or protective services. The court of appeals affirmed, holding that the evidence showed Evans was not Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 8 of 16

suitable for protective placement or protective services. Waukesha Cnty. v. L.J.E., No. 2022AP292, unpublished (WI App Oct. 5, 2022); (App. 3).

#### ARGUMENT

I. This court should grant review and hold that a county seeking an involuntary commitment under the fifth standard of dangerousness must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the individual's needs cannot be met through protective placement or protective services.

There is no dispute about the ordinary standards applicable in ch. 51 commitments. To obtain a commitment, the County must prove by clear and convincing evidence that a person is (1) mentally ill, (2) a proper subject for treatment, and (3) dangerous. *Marathon Cnty. v. D.K.*, 2020 WI 8, 390 Wis. 2d 50, 937 N.W.2d 901; *see also* Wis. Stat. § 51.20(13)(e). These statutory standards are buttressed by constitutional due process protections, requiring the County to prove "by clear and convincing evidence that the individual subject to commitment is mentally ill and dangerous." *Langlade County v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶42, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277 (quoting *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992)).

At issue in this case is the statutory standard of dangerousness that the County sought to prove. The County argued that Evans was dangerous under the "fifth standard," which allows for a commitment in the absence of any actual acts of dangerousness by the person. Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e.; (2: 31:50). Under

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 9 of 16

this standard, the County may predictively commit individuals who are not presently dangerous, but who are believed to become dangerous to themselves if left untreated. *Dane County v. Kelly M.*, 2011 WI App 69, ¶12, 333 Wis. 2d 719, 798 N.W.2d 697.

The fifth standard imposes a complex burden on the County:

For an individual, other than an individual who is alleged to be drug dependent or developmentally disabled, after the advantages and disadvantages of and alternatives to accepting a particular medication or treatment have been explained to him or her and because of mental illness, evidences either incapability of expressing an understanding of the advantages and ofdisadvantages accepting medication treatment and the alternatives, or substantial incapability of applying an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages, and alternatives to his or her mental illness in order to make an informed choice as to whether to accept or refuse medication or treatment: and evidences a substantial probability, as demonstrated by both the individual's treatment history and his or her recent acts or omissions, that the individual needs care or treatment to prevent further disability or deterioration and a substantial probability that he or she will, if left untreated, lack services necessary for his or her health or safety and suffer severe mental, emotional, or physical harm that will result in the loss of the individual's ability to function independently in the community or the loss of cognitive or volitional control over his or her thoughts or actions. The probability of suffering severe mental, emotional, or physical harm is not substantial under this subd. 2. e. if reasonable provision for the individual's care or

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 10 of 16

treatment is available in the community and there is a reasonable probability that the individual will avail himself or herself of these services or if the individual may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55. Food, shelter, or other care that is provided to an individual who is substantially incapable of obtaining food, shelter, or other care for himself or herself by any person other than a treatment facility does not constitute reasonable provision individual's care or treatment in the community under this subd. 2. e. The individual's status as a minor does not automatically establish a substantial probability of suffering severe mental, emotional, or physical harm under this subd. 2. e.

# Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e.

Relevant here is the "ch. 55 exclusion," which precludes a finding of dangerousness if the substantial risk of severe harm can be effectively addressed by providing protective placement or protective services under ch. 55: "The probability of suffering severe mental, emotional, or physical harm is not substantial under this subd. 2.e. . . . . if the individual may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55." In other words, a showing of dangerousness under the fifth standard cannot be made unless the county proves that protective services under ch. 55 could not reduce the probability of harm to less than a substantial probability. *Kelly M.*, 2011 WI App 69, ¶32.

The court of appeals, in *Kelly M.*, held that the county must rebut the ch. 55 exclusion when the individual subject to the commitment petition is "already subject to an order for protective placement

or services," or if the person "is not yet subject to a ch. 55 order but . . . is eligible for one." *Id*.

This court's review is warranted to clarify when a person is "eligible" for ch. 55 services, such that the ch. 55 exclusion must be rebutted. The court of appeals has reversed numerous commitments under the fifth standard based on the county's failure to rebut the ch. 55 exclusion. *Kelly M.*, 2011 WI App 69, ¶4; *Fond du Lac Cnty. v. J.L.H.*, No. 2020AP2049-FT, unpublished slip op., ¶15, (WI App Mar. 24, 2021); *Outagamie Cnty. v. X.Z.B.*, No. 2020AP2058, unpublished slip op., ¶3 (WI App June 22, 2021). But those cases all involved a person already subject to protective placement or services. This court's review is necessary to clarify when the ch. 55 exclusion must be rebutted for a person not yet subject to protective placement or services.

Here, the court of appeals denied relief, finding Evans was not eligible for protective placement or protective services. This conclusion was based on a determination that Evans did not have a guardian. L.J.E., No. 2022AP292, unpublished slip op., ¶22. But guardianships and protective placements are often sought in a single proceeding; therefore, by limiting the ch. 55 exclusion to persons already subject to a guardianship, the court of appeals decision has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., In re Guardianship of Jane E.P., 2005 WI 106, ¶4, 283 Wis. 2d 258, 700 N.W.2d 863; In re Guardianship of Therese B., 2003 WI App 223, ¶2, 267 Wis. 2d 310, 671 N.W.2d 377; Matter of Guardianship & Conservatorship of Joseph P., 222 Wis. 2d 1, 5, 586 N.W.2d 52 (Ct. App. 1998); Matter of W.B., No. 2021AP322, unpublished slip op.,  $\P4$  (WI App Sept. 9, 2022); (App. 55).

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 12 of 16

essentially undone *Kelly M*. If the ch. 55 exclusion only applies to a person who already has a guardian, it will likely never apply to a person who is merely eligible for protective placement or services. The exclusion will only arise in cases where the person is already subject to protective placement or services.

The court of appeals' decision in this case conflicts with *Kelly M*. by relieving the County of its burden to rebut the ch. 55 exclusion. The court of appeals held that Evans had not been found incompetent, so she could not be "potentially eligible" for protective placement or services. *Id.* But the court of appeals misstates the county's burden. That Evans was not under a guardianship was irrelevant; the county could have obtained that guardianship in the same proceeding that it subjected her to protective placement or services. Thus, under *Kelly M.*, the question wasn't whether Evans was presently under a guardianship, but whether she was potentially eligible for guardianship and protective placement.

This court should grant review to clarify *Kelly M.*, and to provide guidance to litigants and lower courts handling fifth-standard commitments. This court should also give the statutory text its full meaning and hold that to satisfy its statutory burden, the County must rebut the ch. 55 exclusion in any case where it seeks to commit an individual under the fifth standard, either by showing the person is not eligible for ch. 55 services, or that ch. 55 could not satisfy the persons needs. Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e. The statute provides that commitment is inappropriate "if the individual may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55"; there is no basis for

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 13 of 16

a petitioner to avoid this statutory burden in any case where it seeks a commitment under the fifth standard.

Here, the County did not offer any evidence showing that Evans' needs could not be met through less restrictive ch. 55 services, specifically a medication order under Wis. Stat. § 55.14. And the circuit court neglected to make any findings on this subject, despite explicitly considering the other exception embedded in the fifth standard. Therefore, the County failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the ch. 55 exclusion could not apply to Evans, and this court should reverse.

Evans was eligible for protective placement or protective services, so rebutting the ch. 55 exclusion was especially important. A person is eligible for protective placement or services under ch. 55 when diagnosed with a "serious and persistent mental illness." Wis. Stat. §§ 55.01(6v), 55.08(1)(c), (2)(b). That phrase is defined to mean a mental illness that "causes a substantially diminished level of functioning in the primary aspects of daily living and an inability to cope with the ordinary demands of life, that may lead to an inability to maintain stable adjustment and independent functioning without long-term treatment and support, and that may be of lifelong duration." Wis. Stat. § 55.01(6v). This is exactly what the County claims is the case for Evans.

The County explicitly sought to prove that Evans' illness prevented her from coping with the ordinary demands of life. (31:32, 64; App. 19.) Kohlenberg and Malinovic both diagnosed Evans with bipolar disorder. (31:31, 43.) Bipolar disorder is a

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 14 of 16

"lifelong condition," and the County's experts testified that Evans required ongoing treatment with medications, and observed that her bipolar disorder had been a long-term issue. (31:18-19, 20, 35.) Kohlenberg also testified that Evans had a history of medication use for the past 17-18 years, including "a pattern" of not taking medications, further suggesting her condition could require "long-term treatment and support." Wis. Stat. § 55.01(6v); (31:36). All of this testimony supported a case that Evans had a serious and persistent mental illness warranting protective placement or services under ch. 55.

The fifth standard of dangerousness requires a petitioner to prove that necessary services could not be obtained through protective placement or services. The court of appeals has offered guidance for analyzing this requirement in cases where a person is already subject to protective placement or services. This court should grant review to clarify a petitioner's burden in cases where the person is merely eligible for placement or services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Living Well with Bipolar Disorder, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, https://www.samhsa.gov/serious-mental-illness/bi-polar, last visited November 2, 2022.

Case 2022AP000292 Petition for Review Filed 11-02-2022 Page 15 of 16

## **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should grant review of the court of appeals' decision.