RECEIVED 11-14-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT Case No. 2022AP292 Circuit Court Case No. 2021ME167

In the Matter of the Mental Commitment of L.J.E.

WAUKESHA COUNTY, Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

L.J.E.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

Response to Petition for Review

JONATHAN JAMES MARTIN

Assistant Corporation Counsel State Bar No. 1101484 jmartin@waukeshacounty.gov Attorney for Petitioner-Respondent

Waukesha County Corporation Counsel Office 515 W. Moreland Blvd., Rm. 330 Waukesha, WI 53188 262-548-7432

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

ARGUMENT

I. Evans fails to present special and important reasons for this court to accept review pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.62.

A petition for review is governed by Wis. Stat. § 809.62. Review is not warranted in this case. Evans seeks to clarify the petitioner's burden, under the ch. 55 exclusion, when a subject is merely eligible for protective placement or services. Evans was not eligible for protective placement or services. Under well-settled caselaw set forth in Helen E.F. and J.W.J., her condition required a ch. 51 commitment. Evans further required court ordered treatment at a locked psychiatric facility—whether it be protective placement or services, neither permit an involuntary order to a locked psychiatric facility. Therefore, this case does not implicate important due process concerns or questions of statutory interpretation. Rather, well-settled caselaw and unambiguous statutes decide the issue effectively. This court should decline review under those circumstances.

Involuntary civil commitments require the County to prove: (1) mental illness; (2) proper subject for treatment; and (3) dangerousness. Langlade Cnty. v. D.J.W., 2020 WI 41, ¶ 29, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277. The County must prove each element by clear and convincing evidence. Id. This court reviews a circuit court's findings of fact for clear error, but independently determines whether the facts satisfy the legal standard. Id., ¶¶ 24-25. things, there is:

In the court of appeals, Evans argued the County failed to prove she was dangerous under the fifth standard. Specifically, she argued that the County failed to prove "protective services ... could not reduce the probability of harm to less than a substantial probability." Br. of Resp't-Appellant at 14. The fifth standard applies when, among other

> "a substantial probability that [the subject] will, if left untreated, lack services necessary for his or her health or safety and suffer severe mental, emotional, or physical harm that will result in the loss of the [subject's] ability to function independently in the community or the loss of cognitive or volitional control over his or her thoughts or actions."

Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e. Within the fifth standard is the ch. 55 exclusion:

The probability of suffering severe mental, emotional, or physical harm is not substantial if

 the subject may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55.

Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e. The evident purpose of the ch. 55 exclusion is to avoid commitment if protective

Filed 11-14-2022

Page 11 of 22

placement or services will provide the needed treatment. Dane Cnty. v. Kelly M., 2011 WI App 69, ¶ 21, 333 Wis. 2d 719, 798 N.W.2d 697. This exclusion may apply to a subject who is not yet ordered to protective placement or services but who is otherwise eligible for either. Id., ¶ 32.

A. Evans' condition required a ch. 51 commitment under *Helen E.F.*

Evans continues to argue a subject is "eligible for protective placement or services under ch. 55 when diagnosed with a 'serious and persistent mental illness." Pet. for Review at 13. The County disagrees. Wis. Stat. §§ 55.08(1) and (2) require several additional findings. First, a subject is eligible for protective placement if all the following are met:

- 1. The subject has a primary need for residential care and custody.
- 2. The subject is an adult who has been determined to be incompetent by a circuit court.
- 3. As a result of a serious and persistent mental illness, the subject is so totally incapable of providing for his or her own care or custody as to create a substantial risk of serious harm to himself or herself or others.
- 4. The subject has a disability that is permanent or likely to be permanent.

Wis. Stat. § 55.08(1). Second, a subject is eligible for protective services if all the following are met:

- 1. The subject has been determined to be incompetent by a circuit court.
- 2. As a result of serious and persistent mental illness, the subject will incur a substantial risk of physical harm or deterioration or will present a substantial risk of physical harm to others if protective services are not provided.

Wis. Stat. § 55.08(2).

The court of appeals correctly held Evans was not eligible for protective placement or services. Evans opposes its reasoning. She argues that eligibility for protective placement or services cannot be solely decided by whether the subject had previously been found incompetent. Pet. for Review at 12. In doing so, she accuses the court of appeals of deciding Evans' eligibility solely on whether she had previously been found incompetent. *Id*. While Evans had not previously been found incompetent⁵, her accusation misstates the decision. Evans continues to overlook *Fond du Lac Cnty. v. Helen E.F.*, 2012 WI 50, 340 Wis. 2d 500, 814 N.W.2d 179, which cripples her quarrel since the court of appeals gave it

⁵ "The record contains nothing to suggest that Evans had already been determined to be incompetent." *L.J.E*, No. 2022AP292, ¶ 22, unpublished. (App.13).

considerable review, and for good reason. L.J.E, No. 2022AP292, ¶¶ 23-24, unpublished. (App.14).

In Helen E.F., the subject resided in a nursing home for six years prior to her ch. 51 commitment, 2012 WI 50, ¶ 3, had been violent and striking out at caregivers, id., ¶ 4, and had been diagnosed with Alzheimer's Disease, a form of dementia, id., ¶ 7. At her final hearing, the doctor testified she was a proper subject for treatment under ch. 51 since medications controlled her behavioral disturbances despite lacking a treatable mental disorder. Id.

In its decision, this court clarified that chs. 51 and 55 "serve substantially different purposes." Id., ¶ 21. While ch. 51 is designed to accommodate shortterm commitment and treatment of mentally ill individuals, ch. 55 provides for long-term care for individuals with disabilities that are permanent or likely to be permanent. Id. In further explanation, this court said:

> "Conversely, the goal of ch. 51 is to treat and rehabilitate the subject individual, which ideally ends by returning her to society. By contrast, ch. 55 is designed for long-term management of disorders that cannot be treated, and therefore are unlikely to subside, meaning that the individual in need of protection is unlikely to return to society."

Id., ¶ 25. The Helen E.F. court further relied on Milwaukee Cnty. Combined Cmty. Servs. Bd. v.
Athans, 107 Wis. 2d 331, 320 N.W.2d 30 (Ct. App.

1982) and C.J. v. State, 120 Wis. 2d 355, 354 N.W.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1984). Id., ¶ 31. In Athans, the subject was diagnosed with chronic paranoid schizophrenia. Helen E.F., 2012 WI 50, ¶ 32. The doctor testified that treatment of the subject's underlying condition would "have as much effect on her as water on a duck's back." Id. The court of appeals held the subject was not a proper subject for treatment as the evidence showed the treatment was only managing the schizophrenia and providing the individual long-term stabilization. Id., ¶ 32-33.

In C.J., the subject was also diagnosed with chronic paranoid schizophrenia. Id., ¶ 34. The court of appeals reviewed Athans and focused on the effect treatment had on the individual's condition, not the name of the condition. Id., ¶ 34-35. It held the individual was a proper subject for treatment because the subject was capable of rehabilitation as the treatment could control or improve the disorder and its symptoms. Id., ¶ 35-36.

The Helen E.F. court adopted the test created by C.J. to determine whether a subject is capable of rehabilitation and thus, requiring a ch. 51 commitment:

"If treatment will maximize the individual functioning and maintenance of the subject, but not help in controlling or improving their disorder, then the subject individual does not have rehabilitative potential, and is not a proper subject for treatment. However, if treatment will go beyond controlling activity and will

Filed 11-14-2022

Page 15 of 22

go to controlling the disorder and its symptoms, then the subject has rehabilitative potential and is a proper subject for treatment."

Id., ¶ 36 (citing C.J. v. State, 120 Wis. 2d at 362) (citations and quotations omitted).

The issue of rehabilitative versus habilitative once again came before this court in *Waukesha Cnty*. v. J.W.J., 2017 WI 57, 375 Wis. 2d 542, 895 N.W.2d 783. There, the subject was diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia, but was able to live independently in the community, attended appointments, and took his medications. *Id.*, ¶¶ 1-3. At the recommitment hearing to extend the subject's commitment, the doctor testified "to the extent that when treated with medications ... his behavior is improved and he can survive in the community." *Id.*, ¶ 8.

In comparing J.W.J. with *Helen E.F.*, this court noted that Helen E.F.'s treated symptoms were secondary to her primary, untreatable symptoms: progressive dementia, memory loss, an inability to learn new information, and limited verbal communication. Id., ¶ 38. In contrast, this court found that J.W.J.'s treatment effectively ameliorated his symptoms to where he was able to live in society and engage in outpatient treatment. Id., ¶ 40. As such, this court found he was rehabilitative. Id.

Under the test set forth by this court in *Helen E.F.*, the County provided ample evidence for both lower courts to find that Evans required a ch. 51 commitment. Kohlenberg opined Evans suffered from bipolar disorder and experienced mood and thought symptoms. (R.31:31-32)(App.47-48). He went on to

detail "paranoia and persecutory thoughts, as well as mood symptoms, depression, mood lability and anxiety." (R.31:32)(App.48) However, he further opined that medications should help:

> "It should help reduce anxiety. It should help with mood stability and also improve thought process and decrease psychosis to allow her to, again, be functional and independent out of the hospital setting."

(R.31:33)(App.49). He then noted that Evans has "historically" "respond[ed] to and does well with treatment". (R.31:34)(App.50). On cross-examination, Kohlenberg further delved into Evans' historical response:

> "When I review her treatment records over the last, you know, approximately 15 years she does appear to respond to treatment, but then there's not ongoing treatment resulting in an exacerbation of symptoms. So when she is under treatment she appears to have a modest response.

(R.31:38)(App.54). Malinovic also opined Evans' bipolar symptoms were treatable. (R.31:43)(App.59). Malinovic said that Evans presented with "a lot of thought blocking" on April 19, 2021. (R.31:46-47)(App.62-63). Malinovic said Evans' thought blocking was "much better" on April 27, 2021. (R.31:47)(App.63). Therefore, Evans' rehabilitative potential made her ineligible for ch. 55.

The County focuses on the circuit court's factual findings regarding treatability since appellate courts must give them deference. D.J.W., 2020 WI 41, ¶ 24. The circuit court concluded the County presented clear and convincing evidence that Evans suffered from a treatable condition capable of rehabilitation. (R.31:64)(App.80). It found Evans suffered from "bipolar disorder with mood and thought impairment, paranoia, persecutory thoughts, and depression or anxiety." (R.31:64)(App.80). It found Evans was treatable because there has been a response to the medication. (R.31:64)(App.80). And it specifically noted that the testimony showed Evans would only spend another week or two at a locked psychiatric facility based on the ongoing response to her medication. (R.31:64-67)(App.80-83). The court of appeals affirmed:

> "Kohlenberg and Malinovic testified that Evans' bipolar disorder was treatable through medication and that she only needed to be committed for a short time to ensure that she continued to take it and to allow it to reach therapeutic effect. When asked directly if "there [were] any concerns that [Evans] is perhaps not treatable," Kohlenberg answered, "No." No testimony or other evidence was presented suggesting that Evans' condition

was untreatable or that she required long-term care. Absent such evidence, we see no reason why the circuit court could have found the Wis. Stat. ch. 55 exclusion applicable to Evans."

L.J.E, No. 2022AP292, ¶ 24, unpublished. (App.15). Therefore, Evans' rehabilitative potential made her ineligible for ch. 55.

B. Evans' condition required court ordered treatment at a locked psychiatric facility, which is not permissible under a ch. 55 order.

Evans also continues to overlook that the circuit court correctly found that her treatment required an involuntary order to a locked psychiatric facility. (R.31:64)(App.80). Importantly, the legislature unequivocally decided that a subject cannot be involuntarily ordered to a locked psychiatric facility through either protective placement or services:

- 1. No individual who is subject to an order for protective placement or services may be involuntarily transferred to, detained in, or committed to a treatment facility for care except under s. 51.15 or 51.20. Wis. Stat. § 55.12(2).
- 2. Protective placement under this section does not replace commitment of an individual in

Filed 11-14-2022

need of acute psychiatric treatment under s. 51.20 or 51.45(13). Wis. Stat. § 55.12(5).

Here, the circuit court ordered "the maximum level of treatment shall be a locked inpatient facility" and the "reception facility shall be Waukesha County MHC". (R.19:1-2;31:67)(App.83,87-88). It reasoned that "the least restrictive level of care would be inpatient so that [the treatment team] could stabilize the medication, reach therapeutic effects of that medication, and allow for adjustments that are going on." (R.31:64)(App.80). Further, when the circuit court addressed whether Evans would avail herself to services in the community, it found "[t]hat is not the case here at all." (R.31:66-67)(App.82-83). The circuit court's factual findings are not clearly erroneous and made commitment necessary.

The county provided ample evidence in support. In fact, three witnesses opined that Evans required treatment at a locked psychiatric facility after the final hearing. First, Faterioun opined Evans "need[s] medications on an inpatient unit". (R.31:16,19-20)(App.32,35-36). Second, Kohlenberg opined "to a reasonable degree of medical certainty" that Evans needs continued inpatient psychiatric treatment to "get her medications going and monitor her safety". (R.31:30-31,34)(App.46-47,50). Third, Malinovic opined "to a reasonable degree of medical certainty" that "the least restrictive environment for [Evans] currently is a locked inpatient unit. She requires further medications to reach a therapeutic effect."

(R.31:43-44)(App.59-60). All three witnesses assessed Evans, including five assessments by Malinovic, and all three witnesses reviewed Evans' treatment records prior to providing their opinions. (R.31:16-17,31,42,45)(App.32-33,47,58,61).

Thus, the County proved by clear and convincing evidence, and the circuit court correctly held, Evans is dangerous under the fifth standard.

CONCLUSION

Evans' condition: (1) made her ineligible for protective placement or services based on well-settled caselaw regarding rehabilitation; and (2) required court ordered treatment at an inpatient psychiatric facility, which—unambiguously—is not permitted under protective placement or services pursuant to statute. This case does not implicate important due process concerns or questions of statutory interpretation. Therefore, the County respectfully requests, based upon the record from the circuit court, the decision of the court of appeals, and the reasons set forth above in the arguments and legal authorities cited in this response, that this court deny the Petition for Review filed by Evans as it does not warrant review under Wis. Stat. § 809.62.